6

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMUEL JOLLY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000259

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED  
OCT 09 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge err by refusing to quash the indictments for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act upon a child as vague and overbroad when the indictments, which covered over a year period, failed to state the offense with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable Appellant to know what he was called upon to answer and whether he could plead an acquittal, particularly given the surrounding circumstances, namely that the alleged conduct occurred over twenty years before trial and almost all of the documentation and records related to the investigation, including the videotape of the forensic interview, were lost or destroyed?

2.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by refusing to exclude evidence of prior bad acts pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), where the state, by procuring vague and overbroad indictments, was permitted to admit unlimited evidence of alleged sexual misconduct committed by Appellant over a thirteen month period without meeting any of the exceptions contained within Rule 404(b), SCRE, or proving the alleged conduct by clear and convincing evidence?

3.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by permitting a medical doctor to give opinion testimony, specifically that Minor allegedly had an interruption of the hymen, which required special knowledge, skill, experience, and training, without qualifying the witness as an expert in violation of Rules 701 and 702, SCRE?

4.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by refusing to exclude expert testimony from Dr. Elizabeth Baker in violation of Appellant's constitutional rights under the Confrontation Clause and pursuant to Rule 705, SCRE, where the underlying facts, data, and evidence relied upon by the witness had been lost or destroyed, thereby preventing Appellant from effectively cross-examining the witness and retaining his own expert to challenge the witness's opinion testimony concerning her physical examination of the minor child?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on February 10, 2013 for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and, on February 3, 2014, for lewd act upon a child. R. 309-312. His case was called to trial on February 12, 2018 before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Ryan Templeton and Michael Spears represented the state, and Michelle Williams and John Kornegay represented Appellant. R. 1. On February 14, 2018, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 293, ll. 10-18. He was sentenced to thirty years for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and fifteen years concurrent for lewd act. R. 304, ll. 2-12.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 22, 1997, the Department of Social Services (DSS) began an investigation after Minor told her physical education teacher that Appellant, her stepfather, had sexually assaulted her. R. 126, ll. 12-21; R. 152, ll. 2-14. Yvonnia Brown, a social worker employed by DSS, accompanied by two law enforcement officers with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office, interviewed Minor at her home on that date.<sup>1</sup> R. 152, ll. 5-22. Minor disclosed allegations of sexual abuse. R. 126, ll. 17-21; R. 157, ll. 13-15. Three days later, on August 25, 1997, Brown returned to the residence and interviewed Appellant. R. 157, l. 19 – 158, l. 10. When questioned, Appellant allegedly admitted to tickling Minor, pulling down her pants, touching her breasts, and exposing himself to her. R. 158, ll. 11-24. When asked whether he had digitally penetrated Minor, Appellant allegedly told Brown he did not recall. R. 158, l. 25 – 159, l. 5. Brown ultimately turned the investigation over to law enforcement. R. 160, ll. 15-18.

On September 5, 1997, Minor attended a forensic interview at the Lowcountry Children's Center. R. 127, l. 14 – 128, l. 4; R. 211, ll. 4-17; R. 215, ll. 11-14. On that same day, Minor underwent a physical examination by Dr. Elizabeth Baker, who at the time was employed by the Children's Medical Assessment Center. R. 204, l. 3 – 205, l. 6; R. 211, ll. 18-21. Dr. Baker, who was never qualified as an expert, testified over Appellant's objection that Minor's "hymen - - which is a little piece of skin that surrounds the entrance to the vagina . . . had an interruption at 6:30." R. 206, ll. 3-5. She later clarified that an "interruption" meant the skin was not "continuous and smooth across." R. 207, ll. 3-7. This was the only physical evidence of alleged sexual abuse presented by the state.

---

<sup>1</sup> Yvonnia Brown was known as Yvonnia Elmore at the time of the investigation. R. 161, ll. 13-15.

A warrant was issued for Appellant's arrest on October 9, 1997. R. 213, ll. 2-13. However, it was not served on Appellant until January 30, 2013. R. 213, ll. 17-19. Due to the significant passage of time, almost all of the documentation and records related to the investigation were either lost or destroyed, including the videotape of Minor's forensic interview, the Department of Social Service's file, photographs and a videotape taken by Dr. Baker during her physical examination of Minor, Dr. Baker's detailed report containing her findings, and most of law enforcement's file. See R. 35, l. 19 – 39, l. 12.

Minor, who was thirty-one years old at the time of trial, explained during her testimony that Appellant and her mother married at some point during 1996 when she was nine years old. During that same year, the family moved from North Charleston to a home in Dorchester County. R. 114, l. 15 – 115, l. 11. Minor alleged that after the family moved to Dorchester, Appellant began sexually abusing her. Specifically, she claimed Appellant fondled her breasts after she complained of pain and tenderness caused by puberty. R. 116, l. 11 – 117, l. 5. She further alleged Appellant would show her cartoon pornography on a computer in the garage. During these encounters, Minor was sitting on Appellant's lap and he would allegedly "stick his hands down in [her] panties" and touch her vagina. R. 117, l. 6 – 118, l. 10.

On another occasion, Minor claimed Appellant pulled down her "panties," touched her vagina, and explained to her why she was "growing pubic hair there." R. 119, l. 18 – 120, l. 6. She claimed she saw Appellant naked every day. On one occasion while Appellant and Minor were laying in bed, Appellant allegedly handed her a stuffed animal "and asked [her] to rub his penis with the stuffed animal to arouse him." She supposedly complied. R. 122, l. 16 – 123, l. 14. Minor described several other incidents involving improper touching. R. 121, l. 20 – 122, l. 15; R. 124, l. 5 – 125, l. 12.

This alleged conduct eventually progressed to a single incident of alleged digital penetration. Minor claimed she remembered Appellant getting on top of her while they were laying in her parents' bed and inserting his middle finger into her vagina. R. 120, l. 18 – 121, l. 19.

Minor first disclosed the alleged abuse to her mother. When “that did really go anywhere,” she told her grandmother about the abuse. However, nothing “came out of telling” her grandmother either. Minor eventually told her “gym teacher,” who told the guidance counselor, who in turn contacted DSS, which led to law enforcement’s investigation. R. 125, l. 23 – 126, l. 21.

Appellant testified in his own defense. He denied sexually abusing Minor. R. 240, ll. 8-13. Appellant asserted that these allegations surfaced after he spanked Minor. When he admitted to the social worker that he had pulled down Minor’s pants, he was referencing the spanking. He assumed that is what the social worker was talking about. R. 234, l. 19 – 235, l. 9. Appellant also admitted to tickling Minor when they “used to play and have fun” together. R. 235, ll. 10-18. As far as touching Minor’s vagina, Appellant told the social worker in 1997 that he did not remember because he may have inadvertently touched her during a bath or while helping her dress. As far as improperly touching her “on purpose,” Appellant vehemently denied ever doing so. R. 235, l. 19 – 236, l. 3.

The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty as indicted. He was sentenced to thirty years for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and fifteen years for lewd act.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge erred by refusing to quash the indictments for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act upon a child as vague and overbroad when the indictments, which covered over a year period, failed to state the offense with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable Appellant to know what he was called upon to answer and whether he could plead an acquittal, particularly given the surrounding circumstances, namely that the alleged conduct occurred over twenty years before trial and almost all of the documentation and records related to the investigation, including the videotape of the forensic interview, were lost or destroyed.

### **Motion and Ruling**

Citing to State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 769 S.E.2d 860 (2015) and State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 654 S.E.2d 849 (Ct. App. 2007), Appellant moved pretrial to quash both indictments. Defense counsel emphasized the standard articulated in Baker and argued the span of time alleged in each indictment, August 1, 1996 to August 22, 1997, was “insufficient to give Mr. Jolly [Appellant] and the defense the ability to sufficiently address the accusations brought by the state,” particularly given the circumstances of the case where the conduct was alleged to have occurred over twenty years ago. R. 3, l. 10 – 5, l. 9.

When confronted by the trial judge with our Supreme Court’s holding in State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 409 S.E.2d 780 (1991), in which the Court held the two year time period alleged in the indictment was not unconstitutionally vague or overbroad, defense counsel easily distinguished this case based on the unusual surrounding circumstances. Specifically, counsel again emphasized that “the prosecution of this case is over 20 years after the allegations.” R. 5,

ll. 13-22. As a result, he explained that almost all of the documentation and records related to the investigation, which existed at the time the charges were brought, have been lost or destroyed. R. 5, l. 23 – 6, l. 6. Counsel argued that under Baker, the trial court must consider these surrounding circumstances. R. 6, ll. 2-6.

Specific to the lewd act indictment, counsel argued the indictment should be quashed because it failed to identify or describe any specific conduct or incidents of alleged misconduct thereby preventing Appellant from effectively combating the charge against him. Counsel maintained, “Essentially, in the lewd-act indictment, the state has repeated the statute with names thrown in. They have not given any detail as to a specific time/date, any details as to what occurred. And I don’t believe that is sufficient under the case law.” R. 7, l. 23 – 8, l. 7. Under Baker, counsel argued the indictment “must state the allegations of this particular incident.” He concluded the lewd act indictment failed to comply with this requirement because it merely contained “the language of the statute with the name Samuel Jolly [Appellant] and [Minor] put in.” R. 8, l. 11 – 9, l. 8.

The solicitor argued that “as far as the lewd act is concerned” merely “putting the time frame, along with a victim, along with the basic requirements [elements] of . . . that particular charge” is sufficient to put the defendant on notice of what he is called upon to answer. R. 9, ll. 17-22. He concluded that based on the indictments “along with all the discovery that’s been put forward in this case, he’s able to determine these are basically sexual touchings, along with the ultimate act, . . . which is the digital penetration.” R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 2.

In response, defense counsel explained that in the limited discovery Appellant received there are numerous allegations of “different incidents” and the defense does not “know which of these incidents the state is pursuing as a lewd act.” He argued, “And with all these different

accusations that potentially the state could be pursuing under this charge, having just the statute listed in the indictment does not provide the defense with sufficient notice to effectively answer those charges.” R. 10, ll. 10-24. When the judge inquired, counsel asserted there were eleven separate allegations that could constitute lewd act contained in the lead investigator’s notes from his observation of Minor’s forensic interview and eighteen separate allegations in the notes from the forensic interviewer about the same interview. Counsel concluded that the general lewd act indictment “doesn’t give us, as the defense, a direction or a target to know, okay, this is what we need to answer.” R. 10, l. 25 – 11, l. 20.

Expanding on this argument at a later point during Appellant’s motion in limine to exclude evidence of prior bad acts, which is argued *infra*, defense counsel asserted:

**[T]he Court [trial judge] has talked about the realm of the indictment being what happened in Dorchester County. And I’ve been through the evidence that’s been provided to me with a fine-tooth comb. And the reality for me – and maybe/maybe not for the state – is I don’t know what those are.**

The very first thing the handwritten notes from the therapist [forensic interviewer] at the LCC [Lowcountry Children’s Center] is there is a difficulty with recall of dates from the victim. **So she [Minor] is inconsistent with where things happened and when they happened.** She tells one person that the first thing that happened is that Samuel Jolly [Appellant] showed his privates to her by lifting the sheet while they were in bed.

She tells Detective Marshall – he writes in his notes that these problems have been happening since she was 2 years old. **So here I am, trying to read these notes, because the LCC video [videotape of the forensic interview] is gone, and trying to figure out, with some sort of specificity, some sort of ballpark figure, what are the dates that these allegations happened and where did they happen. I don’t know.**

She goes on to tell the therapist that the first incident – she tells the therapist, however, that the first incident was in the computer home [room] of the – where the family lived before the marriage, where Samuel Jolly put his hands down her shorts. **I don’t know where that is. I don’t know when that is. I don’t know if they’re going to try to bring that in.**

So that was one of the reasons why I kept saying, What is the lewd act? If you want to tell me that the lewd act is the rubbing the teddy bear on genitalia and

this and that and this, then I think we're getting somewhere. Because I don't – I can't tell from – and **part of the problem is that we've [the state has] lost the evidence.**

And so **I can't piece together what the allegations are and what is going to become a prior bad act.** And that's one of the reasons I brought it pretrial, is because I don't want to be standing up like, you know, a jack-in-the-box every time she says something to say, "Objection. I think this is *Lyle*."

So – and that – and that was one of the reasons I wanted to get it cleared up before court and – and try to figure out – and – and also, we have to – if we're going to amend the indictment, we obviously have to do it before . . . the jury is sworn. So I just wanted to say that. I don't know. And **I don't know that the state knows when certain incidences happened and where they happened. Because the record that we have is not accurate.**

R. 27, l. 21 – 29, l. 17 (emphasis added).

The judge ultimately refused to quash the indictments. He ruled, "I'm not going to dismiss any of them based on the indictment." R. 14, l. 23 – 15, l. 2.

### **Standard of Review**

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 588, 769 S.E.2d, 863 (2015) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)) (internal quotation marks omitted). It is "bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous." Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829) (internal quotation marks omitted).

### **Discussion**

The trial judge erred by refusing to quash the indictments for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act upon a child as vague and overbroad when the indictments, which covered over a year period, failed to state the offense with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable Appellant to know what he was called upon to answer and whether he could plead an acquittal, particularly given the surrounding circumstances, namely that the

alleged conduct occurred over twenty years before trial and almost all of the documentation and records related to the investigation, including the videotape of the forensic interview, were lost or destroyed.

“An indictment is a critical document in criminal defense preparation that is grounded in constitutional and statutory principles.” State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 588, 769 S.E.2d 860, 863 (2015) (citing S.C. Const. art. I, § 11 (“No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate’s court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed . . .”) and S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-10 (2014) (“No person shall be held to answer in any court for an alleged crime or offense, unless upon indictment by a grand jury . . .”)).

As our Supreme Court explained in State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005):

The indictment is the charge of the state against the defendant, **the pleading by which he is informed of the fact, and the nature and scope of the accusation**. When that indictment is presented, that accusation made, that pleading filed, the accused has two courses of procedure open to him. *He may question the propriety of the accusation, the manner in which it has been presented*, the source from which it proceeds, and have these matters promptly and properly determined; or, waiving them, he may put in issue the truth of the accusation, and demand the judgment of his peers on the merits of the charge. If he omits the former, and chooses the latter, he ought not, when defeated on the latter,—when found guilty of the crime charged,—to be permitted to go back to the former, and inquire as to the manner and means by which the charge was presented.

Id. at 102, 610 S.E.2d at 499-500 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

If a defendant raises a timely challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment, the reviewing court must determine “whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be

charged.” Id. at 102-103, 610 S.E.2d at 500. “In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the trial court must look at the indictment with a practical eye *in view of all the surrounding circumstances.*” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (Ct. App. 2007) (emphasis added). In doing so, “one is to look at the ‘surrounding circumstances’ that existed pre-trial, in order to determine whether a given defendant has been ‘prejudiced,’ i.e., taken by surprise and hence unable to combat the charges against him.” Baker, 411 S.C. at 589, 769 S.E.2d at 864 (quoting State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991)).

Gentry, “the seminal case in analyzing the sufficiency of an indictment,” sets forth two requirements that are relevant and dispositive in the instant case. Baker, 411 S.C. 589, 769 S.E.2d at 864. The first being a defendant’s right to question the propriety of the accusation and the manner in which it has been presented, which Appellant has done. The second is the Court’s determination as to whether the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal.

Examining the indictments in view of all the surrounding circumstances, there was no way for Appellant to know whether he could plead an acquittal given the vast time period covered by the indictments, and the vagueness of the lewd act indictment, which merely contained the elements of the offense and identified Minor as the complainant.

Both indictments covered a thirteen month period, which occurred more than twenty years before trial. This expansive time period, which would never pass constitutional muster in any other class of criminal case, rendered the indictments vague and overbroad because it lacked specificity as to when the alleged acts occurred. As our Supreme Court exclaimed in Baker: “Although we recognize the difficulty the prosecution faces in identifying exact dates in child

sexual abuse cases, the class of criminal case should not translate into an exception that operates to circumvent constitutional and statutory principles.” Baker, 411 S.C. at 592, 769 S.E.2d at 865. Having to defend against events that allegedly occurred over a continuous thirteen month period prevented Appellant from effectively combating the charges against him.

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