STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000259

ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL JOLLY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main St.
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
OCT 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

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

Appellant clearly cannot be prosecuted again for any of the allegations brought at trial, or for any other allegations which could have been brought under the indictment. See Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 764 (1962) (explaining a defendant can “rely upon other parts of the present record in the event that future proceedings should be taken against them”).

The propriety of a general indictment in sex abuse cases has been persuasively approved by appellate courts in other states. See, e.g. State v. Petrich, 101 Wash.2d 566, 571, 683 P.2d 173, 178 (1984) (“Whether the incidents are to be charged separately or brought as one charge is a decision within prosecutorial discretion. Many factors are weighed in making that decision, including the victim's ability to testify to specific times and places.”); State v. Generazio, 691 So. 2d 609, 611 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1997) (noting courts have “allowed the matter of how to charge these sensitive and difficult-to-define acts of sexual abuse to rest in the discretion of prosecutors”). As explained by the court in State v. Altgilbers, 109 N.M. 453, 466, 786 P.2d 680, 693 (1989):

The state faces a dilemma when prosecuting on evidence such as that in this case. On one hand, charging one count for each week, or even a shorter period, throughout a multi-year period can be logistically overwhelming (hundreds of counts and jury instructions), oppressive to defendant, and to no purpose. On the other hand, one count may well seem inadequate to represent a great number of serious criminal offenses[....] Recognizing this dilemma, courts have deferred to the prosecutor's charging pattern in such circumstances[....] The charging pattern that best reconciles the community's interest in proper enforcement of the laws and the interest (shared by the community and the defendant) in fairness to the defendant may well be a charging pattern fitting between the two extremes.

The prosecutor's decision to charge a single count rather than piling on as many counts as possible was a commendable act of restraint. Appellant is not entitled to have it both ways; he cannot demand the State charge him separately for each act, yet retain his limited exposure to a single conviction and sentence. And regardless of how many counts are brought, a defendant

cannot prevent the State from introducing relevant, admissible evidence of his continuous course of sexual abuse against a single victim.

The prosecutor's actions in this case compare favorably to those taken by the prosecutor in Valentine v. Konteh, 395 F.3d 626 (6th Cir. 2005). In that case, as in this one, the defendant engaged in a continuous pattern of sexual abuse over an extended time. The minor victim testified she was forced to perform fellatio on the defendant in their living room "about twenty" times, defendant digitally penetrated her "about fifteen" times, and anally penetrated her "about ten" times. She could not articulate a specific date or time for any of the acts. Rather than charge a single count, the prosecutor brought twenty identical indictments for child rape and twenty identical indictments for felonious sexual penetration. Id., 395 F.3d at 636. Valentine was sentenced to forty consecutive life sentences. The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals admonished the prosecutor for "piling on," and held that the forty convictions would be treated as a single conviction for each offense, and that defendant could not "be subsequently charged with the same crimes against the stepdaughter during the stated period." Id.

The validity of the indictments is a distraction from the true issue; whether the State should have been limited to alleging an isolated act of sexual abuse without providing the jury with essential context. Even if the Court views the Lewd Act allegations as prior bad acts, Victim's testimony regarding Appellant's continuous pattern of conduct fits squarely within the common scheme or plan exception to prior bad act evidence. State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 469, 523 S.E.2d 787, 791 (Ct. App. 1999) (testimony regarding a pattern of sexual abuse is "quintessential common scheme or plan evidence"); State v. Whitener, 228 S.C. 244, 265, 89 S.E.2d 701, 711 (1955) (common scheme or plan exception is "generally applied in cases involving sexual crimes, where evidence of acts prior and subsequent to the act charged in the

indictment is held admissible as tending to show continued illicit intercourse between the same parties”); State v. Taylor, 399 S.C. 51, 60, 731 S.E.2d 596, 601 (Ct. App. 2012) (“In our view, the concept of continued illicit intercourse between the same parties in sexual abuse cases is another way of stating the common scheme or plan exception to Rule 404(b).”). Indeed, our courts have gone much farther than the trial court went here by allowing prior bad act evidence to prove conduct towards a different victim. State v. McClellan, 283 S.C. 389, 392, 323 S.E.2d 772, 774 (1984) (in CSC prosecution where defendant engaged in similar course of conduct towards multiple child victims, court held it would be “difficult to conceive of a common scheme or plan more within the plain meaning of the exception than that presented by this evidence”); State v. Hallman, 298 S.C. 172, 175, 379 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1989) (similar pattern of sexual abuse against multiple foster children admissible as common scheme or plan); State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (testimony from former employee detailing similar sexual abuse as victim was admissible as common scheme or plan). The State did not dig up unrelated, distant allegations of abuse in order to demonize Appellant’s character or suggest guilt on an improper basis. The State’s case was limited to Appellant’s predatory conduct toward his stepdaughter over a specific, continuous period of time. The admission of the evidence was proper.

Finally, if this Court agrees that Victim’s testimony amounted to prior bad act evidence, it should defer to the trial court’s ruling that the State proved each incident by clear and convincing evidence. Because this determination was based on Victim’s statements and testimony, it rests solely on her credibility. Witness credibility is the province of the trial judge, and his decision in this regard is not reviewable by an appellate court. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (appellate court does not “review a trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of

other bad acts by determining *de novo* whether the evidence rises to the level of clear and convincing. If there is any evidence to support the admission of the bad act evidence, the trial judge's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal”); State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014) (“[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court's assessment of witness credibility”). For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court’s ruling.

IV.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred by failing to qualify Dr. Baker as an expert is not preserved for review because he did not raise this issue at trial. Even if preserved, the record shows the trial court properly qualified Dr. Baker as an expert. Furthermore, Appellant cannot show prejudice because Dr. Baker was in fact qualified.

Appellant argues on appeal that the trial court improperly allowed Dr. Elizabeth Baker to give opinion testimony without first qualifying her as an expert in violation of Rule 701 SCRE. This argument is not preserved for review because Appellant did not object on this basis at trial. Rather, he argued the expert should not have been allowed to testify at all because certain documentary evidence she produced following her examination had been lost. Defense counsel argued he was not able to cross-examine Dr. Baker on the "basis of her opinion," citing Rule 705 SCRE. Because defense counsel did not object to Dr. Baker's qualification as an expert at trial, Appellant's argument is not preserved for review. Even if preserved, it is without merit. The judge conducted an in camera hearing and found the witness qualified to give the proffered testimony, and the record reflects she was qualified. Appellant suffered no prejudice from the fact that the court never announced Dr. Baker as an expert in the presence of the jury, and Appellant made no such request at trial. Accordingly, the trial court did not err.

Standard of Review

The trial court's ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law." State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57-58 (2011).

Discussion

At the start of the third day of trial, Appellant moved to exclude the testimony of Dr. Elizabeth Baker, the forensic pediatrician who performed Victim's medical exam and discovered that she had an interrupted hymen. Specifically citing Rule 705 SCRE, Appellant asked the court to exclude Baker's testimony because he was not able to examine the "information" she relied on in her examination of Victim. R. 172. Dr. Baker's in camera testimony revealed she did not rely on any outside data or information to make her findings, but rather conducted a pure visual exam and made her findings based exclusively on her own observations. The State made clear it would not elicit Dr. Baker's opinion about what caused the interruption, only the fact that Victim did in fact have an interrupted hymen.

Dr. Baker testified she received her medical degree from the USC School of Medicine and completed her pediatric residency at Richland Memorial Hospital. She practiced forensic pediatric medicine until she went back to school to earn her degree in child and adolescent psychology in 2012. R. 179. After explaining her exam procedure, she stated her finding that Victim had an interrupted hymen. The parties then made arguments regarding the admissibility of her testimony, and the court announced its ruling. Although it questioned whether Dr. Baker's testimony could accurately be called opinion testimony, the court nevertheless found her testimony did "require the expertise of a doctor to report on the physical findings that she made, and I am going to allow her to testify as she just did." R. 200. However, the court also ruled that Dr. Baker could not offer an opinion as to the cause of the interrupted hymen.

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the above-cited testimony shows the court did qualify Dr. Baker as an expert. The court heard her qualifications, listened to her proffered testimony, and found her testimony admissible based on her specialized knowledge and experience. The

court explicitly stated: “I find that the expert has the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify on the subject she will be testifying to[.]” R. 199. The court also found her testimony reliable and that the subject matter was beyond the ordinary knowledge of a lay juror. R. 199.

Appellant never objected to Dr. Baker’s qualifications or the trial court’s findings. His argument was limited to the alleged prejudicial effect caused by the destruction of the photographs and videos Dr. Baker took to document her exam. Because Appellant did not object to Dr. Baker’s qualifications at trial, he may not do so for the first time on appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (objection must be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve an appeal). If Appellant’s argument is that the court should have declared her an expert in front of the jury, this argument is likewise not preserved because the judge was never given an opportunity to rule on that issue either. The State presumably did not tender Dr. Baker as an expert in front of the jury because the court had already found her qualified. But because Appellant did not object on that basis at trial, he may not now argue the issue on appeal. Tucker v. Doe, 413 S.C. 389, 406, 776 S.E.2d 121, 130 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding defendant must have objected to expert testimony at trial on same ground as appeal).

Regardless, Appellant cannot show prejudice from the court’s ruling because the record reflects Dr. Baker was in fact qualified to give expert testimony. United States v. York, 572 F.3d 415, 422 (7th Cir. 2009) (holding any error harmless where witness “would have easily qualified as an expert had the court conducted the formal Rule 702 analysis”). To announce her as an expert in front of the jury would have served no purpose, and may actually have prejudiced Appellant. United States v. Bartley, 855 F.2d 547, 552 (8th Cir.1988) (noting that “[a]lthough it is for the court to determine whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert, there is no requirement that the court specifically make that finding in open court upon proffer of the

offering party. Such an offer and finding by the Court might influence the jury in its evaluation of the expert and the better procedure is to avoid an acknowledgment of the witnesses' expertise by the Court").

In short, the court properly qualified Dr. Baker as an expert and correctly allowed her testimony. Appellant did not request the court announce her as an expert in the presence of the jury, and has cited no case or offered any rationale explaining why the court should have done so. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

V.

The trial court did not err by allowing expert testimony that Victim had an interrupted hymen when testimony was based on doctor's visual observations and she did not offer an opinion based on any underlying facts or data.

Lastly, Appellant claims the trial court erred by allowing Dr. Baker to give her opinion that Victim had an interrupted hymen. Citing Rule 705 SCRE and the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Appellant claims her testimony should have been excluded because the pictures and video Dr. Baker took following her visual exam and a written report documenting her findings were destroyed in the twenty year period between the exam and trial. Appellant equates these documentary pictures and videos with "underlying facts, data, and evidence relied upon by the witness," and claims the absence of these items made Dr. Baker ineligible to testify. Appellant's argument is without merit because (1) Dr. Baker did not give an opinion, and (2) she did not rely on any "underlying facts, data, and evidence," but rather her own observations. Therefore, there were no underlying facts or data to disclose. Accordingly, the trial court did not err by allowing her testimony.

Standard of Review

The trial court's ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law." State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57-58 (2011).

Issue Preservation

Although Appellant cites the Confrontation Clause in his brief, he did not raise it as the basis for his motion at trial. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for review. State v. Sims, 348

S.C. 16, 25, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002) (“On appeal, appellant also argues the trial court's ruling violated the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution; however, this issue is not preserved for review because it was not raised at trial.”).

Discussion

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